0d7
app reg

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 29 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

ESCAMBIA COUNTY SHERIFF'S
DEPARTMENT and ESCAMBIA
COUNTY RISK MANAGEMENT,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO.: 86,327

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CASE NO.: 94-1950

THOMAS GRICE,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,
FIRST DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Michael J. Valen, Esquire
McConnaughay, Roland,
Maida & Cherr, P.A.
316 South Baylen Street
Suite 500
Pensacola, FL 32501
(904) 434-7122
Florida Bar No.: 997633
Attorneys for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent/claimant is a disabled deputy sheriff who was injured on January 28, 1985, while employed by the Escambia County Sheriff's Department, a self-insured and self-administered employer for workers' compensation purposes. The petitioner/employer thereafter accepted the claimant as permanently and totally disabled and began paying permanent and total disability (PTD) benefits. In addition, the claimant received Social Security Disability Benefits, and State Disability Retirement Benefits under the Florida Retirement System. The claimant's pre-injury average weekly wage was determined to be \$583.88, and his compensation rate was \$392.00 per week (R.32). His Social Security Disability Benefit payment amounted to \$163.85 per week, and he received State Disability Retirement Benefits in the amount of \$167.36 per week (R.46,47,60). For purposes of calculating claimant's social security disability payments, it was determined that eighty percent of his average current earnings (ACE) amounted to \$1,514.40 per month or \$349.48 per week (R.46,51).

On June 14, 1993, the County notified the claimant that it was offsetting his PTD benefits based upon the amount that his combined workers' compensation, state pension, and social security benefits exceeded his pre-injury average weekly wage. The claimant filed a claim disputing the County's right to take the offset and sought repayment of the benefits withheld plus his fees, costs, interest and penalties.

After a hearing, the JCC issued an order denying the claim and

allowing the County to "continue workers' compensation offsets to the extent that both Social Security Benefits and Pension Benefits combined to exceed claimant's pre-injury average weekly wage." In his order the JCC noted that under established case law it was clear that the combination of claimant's workers' compensation benefits and his employer funded pension benefits could not exceed claimant's average weekly wage; and that it was equally clear that a statutory offset with respect to Social Security Disability Benefits was provided by Section 440.15(9)(a), Florida Statutes. The JCC acknowledged, however, that there was no statutory or case law for guidance on the issue of whether the employer could combine all three benefits so as to compute an offset based upon the claimant's average weekly wage. Concluding that such combining or "stacking" was permissible, the JCC's order stated:

There are no cases on point dealing with a three way combination of benefits. In this particular case, if either of the two benefits, i.e., social security or pension, were involved and those benefits were more generous, the employer would clearly be allowed to take an offset against compensation based on one or the other. For this reason, it appears that the employer should be allowed to "stack" both benefits to take an offset, provided that it does not exceed the claimant's pre-injury AWW.

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal strictly construed the statutory offset provisions and ruled that because the Legislature provided for a social security offset against workers' compensation benefits, but did not include an offset based

upon the receipt of state disability retirement pension benefits, it was presumed that the Legislature did not intend to allow such an offset. Further, the Court ruled that the offset provision was controlled by federal law which provided that the offset shall not exceed that which the Social Security Administration would be entitled to take under 42 U.S.C, Section 424(a). Although the court concluded that the combining of all three benefits for the purpose of allowing an offset was improper, it certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court:

WHEN AN EMPLOYEE RECEIVES WORKERS' COMPENSATION, STATE DISABILITY RETIREMENT, AND SOCIAL SECURITY DISABILITY BENEFITS, IS THE EMPLOYER ENTITLED TO OFFSET AMOUNTS PAID TO THE EMPLOYEE FOR STATE DISABILITY RETIREMENT AND SOCIAL SECURITY DISABILITY BENEFITS AGAINST WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS TO THE EXTENT THAT THE COMBINED TOTAL OF ALL BENEFITS EXCEEDS THE EMPLOYEE'S AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both the plain meaning and legislative intent of §424(a) of the Federal Social Security Act permit the stacking of disability benefits for purposes of calculating state worker's compensation offsets. The statute specifically lists those benefits which cannot be combined for purposes of computing an offset, and therefore, under principles of "expressio unius est exclusio alterius" those benefits not expressly mentioned may be combined to prevent a claimant from receiving a duplication of benefits. Further, the clear and oft cited legislative intent of §424(a) is to prevent a claimant from receiving a windfall by stacking a combination of benefits. Thus, in Boyd v. Califano, 479 F.Supp. 846 (W.D.Va. 1978) the court addressed the exact same issue presented to this court and held that a three-way combination of benefits could be offset against state worker's compensation benefits to the extent that such combination exceeded claimant's pre-injury wages.

Under Florida state law one of the primary purposes of Chapter 440 is to shift a portion of the costs of industrial injuries onto industry and its consumers. At the same time, one of the goals of our Workers' Compensation Act is to give employees an incentive to avoid accidental injuries and to encourage a prompt return to work following such accidents. In furtherance of these objectives, the Courts of this state have limited an injured workers' recovery for lost wages so that he does not receive more than 100% of his average weekly wage from workers' compensation benefits and other

collateral sources such as sick pay, private disability benefits, and pension benefits. Obviously, an injured workers has a financial disincentive to return to work if he receives more money for being disabled than he does for working.

Section 440.21, Fla.Stat.(1985), precludes any offset for such collateral benefits until the injured worker has received 100% of his average weekly wage in combined benefits, irrespective of whether the collateral benefits were funded by the employer alone or in part by employee contributions. Jewel Tea Company, Inc. v. Florida Industrial Commission, 235 So.2d 289 (Fla.1970); Brown v. S.S. Kresge Company, Inc., 305 So.2d 191 (Fla.1974). Once the 100% cap has been reached, however, §440.20(15), Fla.Stat.(1985), mandates that workers' compensation benefits be reduced so that the combined benefits do not exceed the 100% cap in cases where the employer pays the claimant's "full wages or any portion thereof during the period of disability."

The issue herein is not whether the claimant's workers' compensation benefits and pension benefits must be included within the 100% cap, for under Barragan they clearly must be. The only issue is whether the Respondent's Social Security disability benefits must also be included. Social Security disability benefits are funded through a payroll tax, of which the employer contributes 50%. 26 U.S.C. §3111(a). Therefore, when an injured worker receives Social Security disability benefits following an industrial accident, the employer has continued to provide his "full wages or any part thereof during the period of disability"

just as much as the employer in Brown did by paying the premium for the private insurance policy which later paid disability benefits. The fact that an employee may also have contributed to his Social Security disability benefits through his share of the FICA tax is irrelevant to the question whether the employer has paid the employee's "full wages or any part thereof during the period of disability." This fact was recognized implicitly by this Court in a similar situation in City of Miami v. Smith, 602 So.2d 542 (Fla.1st DCA 1992). There, the Court held that an employee was not allowed to receive combined benefits exceeding 100% of his average weekly wage despite the fact that he had contributed more than \$20,000.00 of his own money toward funding the pension benefits.

ARGUMENT

I

FEDERAL LAW PERMITS THE AGGRAGATION OF SOCIAL SECURITY BENEFITS WITH STATE RETIREMENT DISABILITY BENEFITS FOR PURPOSES OF COMPUTING AN OFFSET AGAINST WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS, WHICH IF NOT TAKEN, PERMITS THE CLAIMANT TO ACCRUE A COMBINATION OF BENEFITS IN EXCESS OF 100% OF THE WORKERS' PRE-INJURY AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE.

Federal law is implicated when calculating offsets under Florida State Workers' Compensation law by virtue of §440.15(9)(a), Fla.Stat., which provides in relevant part:

Weekly compensation benefits payable under this Chapter for disability resulting from injuries to an employee who becomes eligible for benefits under 42 U.S.C. (s). 423 shall be reduced to an amount whereby the sum of such compensation benefits payable under this Chapter and such total benefits otherwise payable for such period to the employee and his dependents, had such employee not been entitled to benefits under this Chapter, under 42 U.S.C. ss. 423 and 402, does not exceed 80% of the employee's average weekly wage. However, this provision shall not operate to reduce an injured workers' benefits under this Chapter to a greater extent than such benefits would have otherwise been reduced under 42 U.S.C. S. 424(a). (Emphasis added).

Thus, Florida law provides that the employer/carrier cannot take an offset greater than that which would have been taken by the Social Security Administration under §424(a) of the Social Security Act. Section 424(a) mandates that offsets be taken when a combination of benefits exceed 80% of a Social Security disability recipient's

"average current earnings" or ACE.¹ In other words, under Florida law the claimant is allowed to receive, in combined benefits, 80% of the average weekly wage or 80% of the ACE, whichever is greater. Trilla v. Braman Cadillac, 527 So.2d 873 (Fla.1st DCA 1988); A.C. Scott Construction and Paving Company, Inc. v. Miller, I.R.C. ord. 2-3906 (September 11, 1979).

The purpose of both State and Federal offset provisions are to prevent the payment of excessive combined benefits which exceed a workers' pre-disability income thereby discouraging workers from returning to work. In rejecting a challenge to §424(a) on due process and equal protection grounds, the United States Supreme Court in Richardson v. Belcher, 404 U.S. 78, 92 S.Ct. 254, 30 L.Ed.2d 231 (1971), examined the legislative history of the Federal offset provision and noted that prior to its inception in 1965 a typical worker injured in the course of his employment and eligible for both State and Federal benefits received compensation for his disability in excess of his take home pay prior to the disability. Hearings on H.R. 6675 before the Senate Committee on Finance, 89 Cong., 1st Sess., Pt.2, p.904. The Court stated:

"It was strongly urged that this situation reduced the incentive of the worker to return to the job, and impeded the rehabilitative efforts of the State programs. Furthermore, it was anticipated that a perpetuation of the duplication of benefits might lead to the erosion of the workmans' compensation programs. The legislative response was

¹ Under Federal law average current earnings are calculated differently than AWW ... in this case, the record shows that 80% of claimant's ACE is \$349.48, while 80% of the AWW is \$467.10. (R. 46,51).

Section 224, which, by limiting total State and Federal benefits to 80% of the employee's average earnings prior to the disability, reduced the duplication inherent in the program and at the same time allowed a supplement to workers' compensation where the State payments were inadequate." Id. at 258.

Other Federal cases have further examined this legislative history and intent of the Federal offset provision found in Section 424(a). In Iglinsky v. Richardson, 433 F.2d 405 (5th Cir. 1970), the Court upheld a Social Security Administration ruling that §424(a) was inapplicable to payments made under a State workers' compensation program as reimbursement for medical expenses. The Court again examined the legislative history and stated:

"In response to concern voiced about the payment of Federal Disability Insurance Benefits concurrently with benefits payable under State Workmans' Compensation programs, Congress enacted Section 335 of the 1965 amendments to the Social Security Act. Pub. L. 89/97, 79 stat. 406 (July 30, 1965). Now codified as 42 U.S.C. §424(a), the amendment is designed to prevent the payment of excessive combined benefits. Thus, §424(a) requires a reduction in Federal disability benefits from the total benefits paid under State and Federal programs which exceed 80% of the claimant's average monthly earnings before the onset of his disability." See s.rep. 404, 89th Cong., 1st Sess., 1965 U.P.S. Code Cong. & Adm. news, pp. 1943, 2040.

In defending the regulation which precluded offsets from Federal disability benefits for amounts attributable to medical expenses under State workers' compensation plans, the Court stated that disability insurance benefits were designed to partially replace the income of a person who had lost the ability to work through illness or injury. Further, workmans' compensation offset

provisions were enacted to insure that a claimant who was also entitled to benefits under a State compensation program did not, by virtue of his right to payment from two sources, receive excessive compensation for the same injury. Because the Federal disability insurance program did not provide for payment of medical expenses, there was no duplication of benefits, and the regulation prohibiting offsets for medical expenses was upheld. Id.

In Sciarotta v. Bowen, 837 F.2d 135 (3rd Cir. 1988), the Court examined a New Jersey workers' compensation offset provision which had the effect of permitting a disabled worker to receive a total benefit package in excess of 80% of his pre-disability earnings.² Under New Jersey law workers' compensation benefits were paid as a combination of two separate entitlements: a base compensation payment, and a "special adjustment benefit payment" designed to counter-act the effects of inflation on the base payment. However, New Jersey only applied an offset to the special adjustment benefit, and not to the base payment. Thus, New Jersey did not apply an offset even when the combination of workers' compensation payments and Federal disability benefits exceeded 80% of the pre-disability earnings, and even when the elimination of the entire special adjustment benefit was insufficient to reduce total payments below the 80% ceiling. In rejecting the claimant's argument that the SSA was precluded from imposing an offset on

² 42 U.S.C. §424(a)(d), permits state's to recoup for themselves the savings created by the §424(a) reduction and precludes the Social Security Administration from implementing a second, double offset under certain circumstances.

disability benefits because New Jersey had imposed its own statutory offset, the Court relied on the legislative history of the Federal offset provisions and held that Congress intended to impose a ceiling on the total benefits an injured worker could receive, and although state's were free to reduce their own payments to comply with that ceiling, legislative history supported the position that the Federal Government could further reduce benefits if the State reduction was insufficient. The Court further stated:

"We note that the committee report's repeated references to the "'80% limitation,'" and to the "'maximum"' payment of 80%, support the Secretary's view. See *Id.* at 2041. Moreover the report makes clear that the "'committee"' believes that it is desirable as a matter of sound principle to prevent the payment of excessive combined benefits." *Id.* at 2040. See Richardson v. Belcher, 404 U.S. 78, 83, 92 S.Ct. 254, 258, 30 L.Ed. 2d 231 (1971) purpose of Federal offset provision is to reduce excessive benefit payments by "limiting total State and Federal benefits to 80% of (pre-disability earnings)."

In Swain v. Schweiker, 676 F.2d 543 (11th Cir. 1982), the Court rejected a Florida workers' compensation claimant's argument that once a State law "provides for" a reduction of State benefits when an injured worker receives Federal disability benefits, the SSA is precluded from imposing its offset on Federal benefits even in periods when the State offset provisions is not operating. *Id.* at 545-46. Under the claimant's interpretation of the statute, the SSA was precluded from reducing Federal benefits merely because of the "existence of a statute pursuant to which a reduction maybe made, regardless of whether the reduction was actually made." In rejecting such literal interpretation, the Court stated:

"It is clear from the legislative history that the purpose of §424(a) is to prevent the payment of excessive combined benefits." Kananen v. Matthews, 555 F.2d 667, 670 (8th Cir. 1977) (citing S.Rep. 404, 89th Cong., 1st Sess., reprinted [(1965)] U.S. Code Cong. & Ad.News 1943, 2040). Such payment "was thought to cause two evils: first, it reduced a workers' incentive to return to the work place and hence impeded rehabilitation efforts; and second, it created fears that the duplication of benefits would lead to an erosion of State workers' compensation programs." Freeman v. Harris, 625 F.2d 1303, 1306 (5th Cir. 1980); Accord, Richardson v. Belcher, 404 U.S. 78, 83, 92 S.Ct. 254, 258, 30 L.Ed. 2d 231 (1971).

The Court further stated that the District Court's interpretation which it overruled would have allowed the very result Congress acted to prevent in §424: the receipt of duplicate State and Federal benefits.

ARGUMENT

II

THE PLAIN MEANING OF §424(a) PERMITS THE STACKING OF COMBINED BENEFITS FOR PURPOSES OF COMPUTING AN OFFSET AGAINST WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS UNLESS ONE OF THE BENEFITS IS SPECIFICALLY EXCEPTED UNDER THE STATUTE.

Section 424(a)2(b) specifically lists those benefits which are precluded from being used to calculate offset amounts. Section 424(a) provides in pertinent part as follows:

If for any month prior to the month in which an individual attains the age of 65-

(1) such individual is entitled to benefits under §423 of this title, and

(2) such individual is entitled for such month to-

(A) periodic benefits on account of his or her total or partial disability (whether or not permanent) under a workman's compensation law or plan of the United States or a State, or

(B) periodic benefits on account of his or her total or partial disability (whether or not permanent) under any other law or plan of United States, a State, a political subdivision (as that term is used in §418(b)2 of this title), or an instrumentality of two or more States (as that term is used in §418(g) of this title), other than (i) benefits payable under Title 38, (ii) benefits payable under a program of assistance which is based on need, (iii) benefits based on service all or substantially all of which was included under an agreement entered into by a State and the Secretary under §418 of this title), and (iv) benefits under a

law or plan of the United States based on service all or substantially all of which his employment is defined in §410 of this title.

Section 424(a) therefore permits offsets of Social Security disability payments against benefits under "any other law or plan...of a state" unless the plan is one of the specific exceptions listed above. Because the claimant's State disability retirement benefits in the instant case clearly fall under the category of "any other law or plan of the United States, a State or political subdivision," and such benefits are not one of the listed exceptions, then under principles of "expressio unius est exclusio alterius", the expressed mention of such exceptions implies that those benefits not expressly accepted are, therefore, permitted to be used when calculating such offset amounts.

In Kenanen v. Matthews, 555 F.2d 667 (1977), the Court construed §424(a) according to the principles set forth in United States v. Kelly, 519 F.2d 251, 256 (8th Cir. 1975):

"In the early decision of United States v. Standard Brewery, 251 U.S. 210, 40 S.Ct. 139, 65 L.Ed. 229 (1920), the Court observed: nothing is better settled than that in the construction of a law its meaning must first be sought in the language employed. If that be plain, it is the duty of the courts to enforce the law as written, provided it be within the constitutional authority of the legislative body which passed it."

In Halvering v. Hammel, 311 U.S. 504, 61 S.Ct. 368, 85 L.Ed. 303 (1941), the Court stated:

"True, courts in the interpretation of a statute have some scope for adopting a restricted rather than a literal or usual

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