SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 26 1995

DLG 20 1995

Grief Deauty Clark

ESCAMBIA COUNTY SHERIFFS DEPARTMENT and ESCAMBIA COUNTY RISK MANAGEMENT,

Petitioners,

vs.

THOMAS GRICE,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 86,327 DCA CASE NO.: 94-1950

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James F. McKenzie, Esquire Florida Bar Number: 163790 McKenzie & Soloway, P.A. 905 East Hatton Street Pensacola, Florida 32503 (904) 432-2856 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court of Appeal below found that a strict interpretation of the statutory scheme of workers compensation did not provide any offset for disability pension benefits against workers compensation benefits and, therefore, it must be presumed that the Legislature did not intend to allow any such offset. On that basis and on the basis that F.S. §440.15(a) did not allow any aggregation of pension benefits with social security benefits to compute an offset, the District Court of Appeal correctly found that the Judge of Compensation Claim's order allowing such aggregation for offset purposes was erroneous.

At the time relevant to this claim, there was no provision in the workers compensation law allowing an offset of disability retirement benefits from workers compensation. Additionally, there was also no provision in that law allowing any stacking of disability retirement benefits with social security disability benefits to offset against workers compensation from disability retirement benefits. Therefore, no statutory authority exists to support reversal of the decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District, in this case. Moreover, neither the Petitioner nor Amici have cited any case law that allows any such aggregation. Instead, the Petitioner and the Amici in this

case urge this Court to become a super legislature by judicially adding a provision that would allow for the stacking of these benefits although the Legislature did not do so. They urge this Court to do so by providing public policy reasons that are inapplicable, by misinterpreting this Court's decision in Barragan v. City of Miami, 545 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1989), and by referencing inapplicable federal case law. In short, none of these attempts are able to overcome the fact that there are no applicable statutory provisions or case law. In order for this Court to find in favor of the Petitioner, a new page in the workers compensation legislation must be written by this Court. Since the Legislature in F.S. Section 440.15 (1985) provided certain offsets but did not include the offset sought by the Employer in this case, the statutory construction principle of expressio unius est exclusio alterius is applicable and this Court is not empowered to judicially create the omitted offset. Dobbs v. Sea Island Hotel, 56 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1952). Further, since workers compensation is peculiarly a creature of statute, this Court should not judicially fill in the blanks the way it thinks the law should be. Murphy & Sons, Inc. v. Gibbs, 137 So.2d 553, 562 (Fla. 1962).

The Petitioner argues that this Court's decision in Barragan v. City of Miami, supra, allows the offset of any disability benefits received by an employee to the extent that those combined benefits exceed the employee's preinjury average weekly wage. However, the actual holding in Barragan was that when the disability pension plan has an offset provision, an offset would still only be allowed when the combined pension benefits and workers compensation exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the average weekly wage. The Court rendered this holding based on the fact that allowing an offset for benefits not exceeding one hundred percent (100%) would violate Florida Statute §440.21 (1985). The pension plan in Barragan did have an offset provision and the total of the pension and workers compensation did exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the average weekly wage. Whereas, in this case, the state retirement plan contained no offset provision (R. 67) and the total of workers compensation benefits, \$392.00 weekly (R.32), and the state retirement benefits, \$167.36 weekly, (R.60) did not exceed the Employee's pre-injury average weekly wage of \$583.88 (R.32). Barragan, like the workers compensation law itself, is completely silent on the issue of stacking of social security disability benefits with pension benefits to compute an offset.

A more analogous case is <u>City of Pensacola v.</u> Winchester, 560 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). In that case, the pension plan of the City had a provision allowing the employee to collect in line of duty disability benefits and workers compensation. The plan did not contain an offset provision. However, the combination of the two did exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the pre-injury wage. The First District found that the Barragan rationale was not applicable because the Employee was entitled to the full value of the contracted for benefits. The same situation exists in this case. The Employee, in his employment contract with the Escambia County Sheriff's Department became a member of the State Retirement System. retirement plan does not provide for any offsets for the receipt of workers compensation or social security disability benefits. Therefore, the Employee is entitled to receive workers compensation and disability benefits with the only offset being the statutorily allowed offset for the receipt of social security disability benefits.

ARGUMENT I

IT IS IMPERMISSIBLE UNDER FLORIDA LAW TO ALLOW THE EMPLOYER TO AGGREGATE BOTH SOCIAL SECURITY AND STATE RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND OFFSET ALL PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS THAT WHEN ADDED THERETO EXCEEDS ONE HUNDRED PERCENT (100%) OF THE EMPLOYEE'S AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE.

Neither the workers compensation law nor the State Retirement Act specifically authorize either an offset against permanent total disability benefits or retirement benefits for receipt of the other. In addition, although the workers compensation law does provide an offset for social security disability benefits, there is no statutory provision allowing the aggregation or stacking of those benefits with any retirement or pension benefits to compute an offset. The Judge of Compensation Claims acknowledged these facts in his decision (R 67-69). Despite those findings, the Judge of Compensation Claims made a "public policy" based ruling that even absent statutory or case law basis for such "stacking", the Employer should be allowed to do so (R. 69). The District Court of Appeal, First District reversed based on strict interpretation of the Florida statutory workers compensation scheme and Social Security

¹The retirement Commission has also not by rule provided for any offset.

law, 42 U.S.C. §424(a). <u>Grice v. Escambia County Sheriffs</u>

<u>Department</u>, 20 FLW D1863, 1864.

Although the workers compensation law applicable to this accident contained no provision allowing for offset of retirement benefits from workers compensation benefits, the Supreme Court in Barragan v. City of Miami, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989), found that if a retirement plan had an offset provision, some offset of workers compensation benefits against retirement benefits would be allowed under certain circumstances. In Barragan, the court found that a local ordinance of the City of Miami which reduced a city employees pension benefits by the amount of workers compensation benefits was invalid except to the extent that the total of the two benefits exceeded the workers average weekly wage. That decision stands for the proposition that the employer can reduce retirement benefits (not workers compensation benefits) when two things are present: 1. The retirement plan has an offset provision; and, 2. The sum of both pension benefits and workers compensation benefits exceeds one hundred percent (100%) of the employees average weekly wage.

In the instant case, none of those factors are present.

The state retirement law contains no offset provision and

the Retirement Commission has not sought any offset. It is

the Retirement Commission has not sought any offset. It is the workers compensation arm of the Employer that took an offset from workers compensation benefits. Additionally, the sum of Claimant's workers compensation rate and his state retirement benefits did not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of his average weekly wage. Therefore, Barragan does not support the offsets sought in this case.

However, the Petitioner argues that the rationale from Barragan allowing offset above one hundred percent (100%) of the average weekly wages when Employer funded retirement benefits and workers compensation benefits combined exceed the average weekly wage, then it follows that the two combined with social security disability benefits also should not be allowed to exceed the average weekly wage. There is absolutely no statutory or case law support for that conclusion. In fact, the existing case law, although not dead on point, supports an opposite conclusion.

What the Judge of Compensation Claims below and the Petitioner here overlook is that <u>Barragan</u> involved a situation where the pension plan had an offset provision. This Court did not authorize or create an offset in that case as did the Judge of Compensation Claims below. It is one thing to hold that an offset is permissible under a retirement plan containing an offset provision when the

combination of benefits exceeds one hundred percent (100%) of the average weekly wage. It is an entirely different thing to judicially create the offset. Barragan simply did the former and can in no way be stretched to have held the latter.

The courts have always held that the employee is entitled to the benefits accorded him by the employment contract or agreement without regard to the receipt of workers compensation benefits. Jewel Tea Company v. Fla. Industrial Comm., 235 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1970); City of Pensacola v. Winchester, 560 So. 2d 1273 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). For instance, in City of Pensacola v. Winchester, supra the First District considered the case of a City of Pensacola fire fighter who was injured on the job and was receiving both workers compensation and in line of duty disability benefits under the City Pension Plan. The sum of both exceeded the employees average weekly wage and the City sought an offset based upon Barragan, supra. The pension plan, however, provided that an employee would be entitled to the pension in addition to any workers compensation payable. The First District found that the contractual provision made the Barragan holding inapplicable. The same rationale should apply here. The Employee and the Escambia County Sheriffs Department

employment contract made the Employee a member of the State Retirement System and entitled the Employee to receive applicable pension benefits under the State retirement plan. That plan contained no offset for the receipt of workers compensation benefits or social security disability benefits. The Employee has, therefore, the right to receive those full retirement benefits despite the receipt of workers compensation and social security.

Further, the rules of statutory construction do not support the positions of Petitioner and Amici. The Legislature included certain offset provisions in F.S. \$440.15 (1985). Those offset provisions allow for the offset of social security benefits but provide no offset for retirement disability benefits and clearly do not provide for the aggregation of social security and retirement benefits to compute any offset. While amicus Orange County argues that it is inapplicable, the doctrine of expressio unius est exclusio alterius applies here. This court has stated as follows in applying this principle of statutory construction to the workers compensation law, Dobbs v. Sea Island Hotel, 56 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1952):

^{. . .} This maxim, which translated from the Latin means: express mention of one thing is the exclusion of another, is definitely controlling in this case. The Legislature made one exception to

the precise language of the statute of limitations. We apprehend that had the legislature intended to establish other exceptions it would have done so clearly and unequivocally. We must assume that it thoroughly considered and purposely preempted the field of exceptions to, and possible reasons for tolling, the statute. We cannot write into the law any other exception, nor can we create by judicial fiat a reason, or reasons, for tolling the statute since the legislature dealt with such topic and thereby foreclosed judicial enlargement thereof.

The same observations are present here. The

Legislature is presumed to have allowed the setoffs that it

decided were appropriate. This Court should not by

statutory construction write into the law an additional

setoff. See also, Thomas Smith Farms, Inc. v. Alday, 182

So.2d 405 (Fla. 1966); Univ. Of Florida, Institute of

Agricultural Services v. Karch, 393 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1st DCA

1981).

Furthermore, contrary to Amicus Orange Countys argument, F.S. §440.15 (1985) creates a new offset. Not only does it create a new offset, but it creates a very different offset provision than the comparable offset for workers compensation benefits in the Federal statute. Federal law allows Social Security to take an offset based upon the receipt of workers compensation, while the Florida Statute allows the employer to take an offset based upon the

receipt of Social Security benefits. Additionally, the offset in F.S. §440.15 (1985) is based on the Average Weekly Wage while the offset in the Social Security Act is based upon the Average Current Earnings, which both the Petitioners and the Amici agree are two entirely different things. Therefore, no basis exists for disregarding the doctrine of expressio unius est exclusio alterius.

The Petitioner and Amicus Broward County arque that the many cases that discuss the policy of preventing an employee from receiving a windfall support the offset sought. one of those cases involved statutory provisions (or IRC rules) that allowed the offset sought. That argument ignores the lack of statutory authority for the offset sought in this case and also ignores that the burden of proving the right to an offset is imposed on the party seeking it. Dept. of Highway Safety v. McBride, 420 So.2d 897 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). That argument further overlooks the statutory schemes which do allow, under certain circumstances, for an employee to receive in excess of one hundred percent (100%) of his pre-injury wage. instance, an employee who is receiving permanent total disability benefits under workers compensation is entitled to a five percent (5%) per year cost of living increase in his or her compensation rate that is only capped by the

maximum compensation rate. F.S. § 440.15(1)(f) (1985). Even if the injured worker is receiving social security disability benefits which would activate the eighty percent (80%) offset provisions of F.S. § 440.15(7) (1985), the offset under Federal Law does not include annual cost of living increases paid by the Social Security Administration. Additionally, an employees average current earnings (ACE) (a figure computed under the Social Security Act which is based upon the employees highest earnings year in a certain time period), which is substantially higher than the Average weekly wage (AWW), is used to compute the offset and 80% of that figure could be greater than the AWW. Under all three of these circumstances, the amount actually received by the employee could exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the pre-injury average weekly wage.

The argument proffered by Petitioners and Amici herein that the claimant will receive a windfall if this unauthorized offset is not taken, also ignores the fact that the injury precludes the employee from improving his financial situation by working part-time second employment, working longer hours, by advancement in his company with the accompanying advancement in salary, by changing employment for a more lucrative position or by any other imaginable measure that an individual who is able to work has available

to him. This is not a windfall situation at all. This is a situation where an employee gets the benefits which he was entitled to receive under the law. The petitioner and amici neglect to consider that the offset sought was neither authorized, contemplated nor provided for by the applicable workers compensation law, and that to allow it would provide a windfall to the employers who have no right or expectation to receive such an offset under the law. The presence of so many amici in this case illustrates that reality.

Simply stated, the Petitioner and Amicus have cited no statutory or case law authority to justify the offset sought. If the offset is to be approved, this Court will have to judicially create it. Workers compensation is peculiarly a creature of statute, was not part of the Common Law and, therefore, is not an area historically subject to court made rules. As this Court held in J.J. Murphy & Sons, Inc. v. Gibbs, 137 So.2d 553, 562 (Fla. 1962), "... workers compensation is entirely a creature of statute and must be governed by what the statutes provide, not by what deciding authorities feel the law should be."

ARGUMENT II

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